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I. STATEMENT

1. On October 9, 2018, the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Commission or PUC) filed Civil Penalty Assessment or Notice of Complaint to Appear (CPAN) No. 122311, which alleges: (a) six violations of Rule 6102(a)(I) of the Commission’s Transportation Rules
 and 49 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) § 391.45, on March 5, 2018, April 4, 2018, May 1, 2018, June 1, 2018, July 2, 2018, and August 1, 2018; and (b) one violation of Rule 6107 on August 5, 2018.  The Respondent that allegedly committed these violations is Robert Limo Services LLC (Robert Limo Services).  CPAN No. 122311 states that the civil penalty assessed for the alleged violations is $7,700.00, plus an additional 15 percent surcharge, for a total of $8,855.00, but that if Robert Limo Services pays the civil penalty within ten calendar days of its receipt of the CPAN, the civil penalty will be reduced to $4,427.50.  The CPAN further states that, if the Commission does not receive payment within ten days, the CPAN will convert into a Notice of Complaint to Appear and a hearing will be scheduled at which the Commission Staff will seek the civil penalty plus the 15 percent surcharge for the cited violations.
  The CPAN concludes that the PUC may also order Robert Limo Services to cease and desist from violating statutes and Commission rules.
  

2. The CPAN states that the Commission served the CPAN by U.S. certified mail on Robert Limo Services on October 9, 2018.

3. Robert Limo Services has not paid any amount, much less the reduced civil penalty amount or the total civil penalty amount of the CPAN.  

4. As a result, on October 31, 2018, the Commission referred this proceeding to an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) for disposition.  The proceeding was subsequently assigned to the undersigned ALJ. 

5. On November 1, 2018, Trial Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) filed its Notice of Intervention as of Right, Entry of Appearance, and Notice Pursuant to Rule 1007(a) and Rule 1401. 

6. On November 20, 2018, the ALJ issued Decision No. R18-1041-I that, among other things, scheduled the hearing in this proceeding for January 11, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. and established a prehearing schedule for the parties to disclose witness and exhibit lists and file exhibits.   

7. On January 11, 2019 at 9:00 a.m., the ALJ commenced the hearing.  Staff appeared through counsel.  Robert Limo Services failed to appear for the hearing at that time, either in person or by counsel.  The undersigned ALJ took a 30-minute recess to allow additional time for Respondent to appear.  After the recess, Robert Acquaye appeared on behalf of Robert Limo Services.  The hearing then proceeded as noticed.
8. At the outset of the hearing, and as explained below, the ALJ found and concluded that Mr. Acquaye, who is not an attorney, was permitted to represent Robert Limo Services.  After reaching that conclusion, the ALJ advised Mr. Acquaye that he would be bound by, and held to, the same procedural and evidentiary rules as attorneys and that the ALJ would not provide any legal advice or help to Mr. Acquaye during the hearing.  Ms. Acquaye stated that he understood the ALJ’s admonitions.    
9. At the hearing, Exhibits 1 through 3, 4A, 4B, and 5 through 13, and Confidential Exhibit 14, were admitted into evidence.  Investigator Cory Brodzinski of the Commission’s Transportation Section testified for Staff in support of the allegations contained in CPAN No. 122311.  Mr. Acquaye testified on behalf of Robert Limo Services.  
10. In reaching this Recommended Decision the ALJ has considered all arguments presented, including those arguments not specifically addressed in this Decision.  Likewise, the ALJ has considered all evidence presented at the hearing, even if the evidence is not specifically addressed in this Decision.  
II. FINDINGS OF FACT

A. Representation

11. At the outset of the hearing, Mr. Acquaye stated that he is the sole owner and an officer of Robert Limo Services, and that he desired to represent Robert Limo Services at the hearing. 

B. Background

12. Robert Limo Services has had Luxury Limousine Permit LL-02329 since July 10, 2013,
 and has purchased a vehicle stamp every year since then.
  It has been a respondent in five show cause proceedings, three for failure to maintain evidence of financial responsibility on file with the Commission, and two for failure timely to purchase a vehicle stamp.
   

C. Compliance Inspection

13. On August 23, 2018, Investigator Cory Brodzinski of the Commission’s Enforcement Staff performed a compliance spot check on Robert Limo Services at the Grand Hyatt Hotel in Denver.  Mr. Acquaye was at the Grand Hyatt Hotel on that date driving Robert Limo Service’s luxury limousine.

14. Investigator Brodzinski requested that Mr. Acquaye produce his driver’s license, the permit that authorizes Robert Limo Services to operate as a luxury limousine, the annual inspection documentation for Robert Limo Services’ limousine, documentation establishing that Robert Limo Services had a valid charter order, and Mr. Acquaye’s medical examiner’s certificate.  In response, Mr. Acquaye produced his driver’s license, the luxury limousine permit for Robert Limo Services, the vehicle registration for the limousine, and a medical examiner’s certificate that expired on July 22, 2017.
  Mr. Acquaye said he did not have a charter order because he was at the Grand Hyatt as an Uber driver to provide a ride requested through the Uber application, but the requester canceled the request.  Investigator Brodzinski reviewed Mr. Acquaye’s smartphone, but was unable to confirm that Mr. Acquaye had received a ride request through the Uber application.

Investigator Brodzinski completed a Driver/Vehicle Compliance Report, which is a form used by PUC Investigators.  On the report, Investigator Brodzinski noted that Mr. Acquaye did not have a current medical examination card, documentation establishing that 

15. the vehicle had received an annual inspection, or a charter order.  Mr. Acquaye signed the Driver/Vehicle Compliance Report and Investigator Brodzinski provided Mr. Acquaye with a copy of it.
  Investigator Brodzinski informed Mr. Acquaye that he had 15 days to correct the violations, but that he was “out-of-service,” and thus could not provide limousine service, until he obtained a current, valid medical examination certificate.
  

D. Mr. Acquaye’s Efforts to Come Into Compliance 

16. A few days later, Mr. Acquaye dropped off at the Commission’s offices a medical examination certificate and an annual inspection report.
  The medical certificate and inspection report showed that Mr. Acquaye had a medical examination and had his vehicle inspected on August 23 – the same day as the inspection by Investigator Brodzinski.
  Mr. Acquaye passed his medical examination and thus obtained a medical certification, and his vehicle passed the inspection.
  
E. Post-Inspection Investigation
17. Because Mr. Acquaye’s medical examination certificate had been expired for over a year, Inspector Brodzinski initiated an investigation of whether Mr. Acquaye drove the Robert Limousine Services’ limousine during 2018 in violation of Commission Rule 6102(a)(1).  To do so, Investigator Brodzinski first requested from the Manager of Aviation at the Denver International Airport (DIA) “AVI” records for Robert Limo Service’s limousine on August 24, 2018.  Vehicles that provide limousine services to and from DIA are required to be equipped with a transponder that communicates with equipment at the airport to record when the vehicles enter and exit the commercial vehicle areas of the airport.  A limousine owner must pay a fee each time its vehicle accesses a commercial vehicle area at DIA.
  Investigator Brodzinski requested the AVI records for Robert Limo Services’ vehicle from February 23, 2018 to August 23, 2018, which were the six months preceding the inspection conducted by Investigator Brodzinski.
  Investigator Brodzinski submitted the request to the Manager of Aviation of the Denver International Airport pursuant to the Colorado Open Records Act.  

18. Approximately a week later, Investigator Brodzinski received the response to his request.  According to Investigator Brodzinski, the response establishes that Robert Limo Services’ limousine accessed a commercial vehicle area at DIA on 153 days between February 23, 2018 and August 23, 2018.
  Given that Mr. Acquaye testified that he was the only individual who drove the Robert Limo Services’ limousine,
 this means that Mr. Acquaye drove his limousine into a commercial vehicle area of DIA on each of the 153 days identified in the AVI records.  In addition, because Robert Limo Services was required to pay a fee each time its limousine entered a commercial vehicle area at DIA, the ALJ finds that Mr. Acquaye drove the limousine for commercial purposes on each of the 153 days he entered the commercial vehicle area at DIA between February 23, 2018 and August 23, 2018.
  The evidence does not support the opposite conclusion that Mr. Acquaye used his limousine for personal, non-commercial purposes (such as to pick-up a friend or relative) when he entered a commercial vehicle area of DIA on each of those days.  

19. Investigator Brodzinski also requested that Mr. Acquaye provide his “100 Air Mile Log” or time records showing the dates and times Mr. Acquaye worked.
  Commission Rule 6103(c)(II)(D) requires luxury limousine companies to complete and retain time records of its drivers.
  According to Investigator Brodzinski, Mr. Acquaye delayed providing the time records.  As a result, Investigator Brodzinski made a second request for the time records on or around September 21, 2018, at which point Mr. Acquaye claimed that he had not previously supplied the requested records because he had been out-of-town. 

20. Investigator Brodzinski was skeptical of Mr. Acquaye’s explanation for 
why he had not produced the time records.  As a result, on September 21, 2018, Investigator Brodzinski sent a second request to the manager of Aviation of DIA for the 
AVI records for Robert Limo Service’s limousine, this time from August 23, 2018 to September 21, 2018.
  Investigator Brodzinski received the second batch of AVI records from the Manager of Aviation approximately a week later.  

21. Those AVI records show that Robert Limo Services’ limousine entered the commercial vehicle areas of DIA on virtually every day from August 23, 2018 to September 21, 2018.  Indeed, the only days on which the limousine did not enter the commercial vehicle areas of DIA during that 30-day period were September 2, 3, 6, 15, 20, 21, 22, and 23.  Otherwise, the limousine entered the commercial vehicle area of DIA on every day during that period.
  Given that Mr. Acquaye testified at the hearing that nobody else drove Robert Limo Services’ limousine and that Robert Limo Services has only one limousine, the ALJ finds that Mr. Acquaye drove the limousine into and out of the commercial vehicle areas of DIA on each occasion during the period August 23, 2018 to September 19, 2018 shown in Exhibit 9. 

22. Based on the AVI information, Investigator Brodzinski contacted Mr. Acquaye and gave him until noon on October 3, 2018 to provide the time records that he had previously requested.  While Mr. Acquaye eventually delivered the time records, it was after the noon deadline on October 3, 2018.  

23. The time records provided by Mr. Acquaye covered the period from March to August 2018.
  In his review of those records, Investigator Brodzinski initially noted that there was a uniformity in the entries of dates and times worked suggesting that all of the entries were written at the same time, rather than contemporaneously with the date and time worked.
  Investigator Brodzinski next compared the time records to the AVI records and noted that, while the AVI records indicated that Mr. Acquaye worked 153 days from March to August 2018, Mr. Acquaye’s time records stated that he worked only 127 days.
  Investigator Brodzinski concluded that the AVI records were correct, and that Mr. Acquaye’s time records were inaccurate.  Investigator Brodzinski further concluded that Mr. Acquaye did not fill out his time records contemporaneously with the time that he worked the hours reflected in his time records.  Instead, Investigator Brodzinski concluded that Mr. Acquaye filled out the time records that covered the time period from March to August 2018 at some point after Investigator Brodzinski requested the records. 

24. Mr. Acquaye denied this allegation by Investigator Brodzinski.  Instead, Mr. Acquaye testified that he filled out his time records on the days that he worked.   

F. Prior Safety and Compliance Review

25. On February 18, 2014, Investigator Nate Riley of the Commission performed a Safety and Compliance inspection (SCR) of Robert Limo Services.  Investigator Riley found violations of ten different provisions of the Code of Federal Regulations, including 49 C.F.R. §§ 395.8(a) and 396.17(a), both of which Investigator Riley listed as “critical” in his Final Report.
  Rule 49 C.F.R. § 395.8(a) requires a motor carrier subject to Part 395 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations to have its drivers maintain a record of duty status.  Rule 49 C.F.R. § 396.17(a) requires such a motor carrier also to have its vehicles inspected on an annual basis.  Investigator Brodzinski argued that the fact that Robert Limo Services was cited in the SCR for failure to comply with the requirement to have an annual safety inspection of its vehicle is an aggravating factor in the analysis of the appropriate penalty, as discussed further below.  
G. CPAN No. 122311

26. On October 4, 2018, Inspector Brodzinski signed CPAN No. 122311 described in paragraph 1 above.  On October 9, 2018, Inspector Brodzinski served CPAN No. 122311 by U.S. Certified Mail at 809 Dillon Way, Aurora, Colorado 80011.   

III. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
A. Jurisdiction

27. The CPAN alleges violations of Commission Rules 6102(a)(I) and 6107.
  Section 40-7-116(1)(a), C.R.S., specifies that “[i]nvestigative personnel of the commission . . . have the authority to issue civil penalty assessments for the violations” of, among other things, Commission Rules.  Accordingly, the Commission has subject matter jurisdiction over this proceeding.

28. In addition, as noted above, Denver Limo was served with CPAN No. 122311 
by U.S. Certified Mail at 809 Dillon Way, Apartment 206, Aurora, Colorado, which is the address provided by Respondent to the Commission for service of process.
  Respondent was also served with timely and adequate notice of the evidentiary hearing scheduled in Decision No. R18-1041-I.  Mr. Acquaye conceded at the hearing that he received both CPAN No. 122311 and Decision No. R18-1041-I.  The Commission thus has personal jurisdiction over Respondent.  
B. Burden of Proof

29. Staff bears the burden of proving its case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The evidence must be “substantial evidence,” which is defined as “such relevant evidence as a reasonable [person’s] mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion ... it must be enough to justify, if the trial were to a jury, a refusal to direct a verdict when the conclusion sought to be drawn from it is one of fact for the jury.”
  A party has satisfied its burden under this standard when the evidence, on the whole, tips in favor of that party.  
C. Representation

30. Robert Limo Services is a corporation, and thus must be represented by an attorney in this proceeding unless it satisfies the criteria of Commission Rule 1201(b)(II).
  Under that Rule, a non-attorney can represent Robert Limo Services if Robert Limo Services provides evidence:  (a) proving that Robert Limo Services is a closely-held entity, which means it has no more than three owners; (b) identifying the individual who will represent Robert Limo Services in this matter; (c) establishing that the identified individual is an officer of Robert Limo Services; (d) proving that the identified individual has the authority to represent Robert Limo Services in this matter; and (e) establishing that the amount in controversy in the proceeding is less than $15,000.
  
31. Here, as noted above, Mr. Acquaye stated that he is the sole owner and an officer of Robert Limo Services, and that he desired to represent Robert Limo Services at the hearing.  As the sole owner, Mr. Acquaye has the authority to represent Robert Limo Services.  Finally, counsel for Staff confirmed that less than $15,000 is at issue in this proceeding.  Accordingly, and as stated on the record at the hearing, the ALJ found and concluded that Mr. Acquaye is permitted to represent Robert Limo Services in this proceeding.  
D. Violations of Rule 6102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45
32. Counts 1 through 6 allege violations of Commission Rule 6102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45.  Rule 6102 states in relevant part that “the Commission incorporates by reference the regulations published in: (I) 49 C.F.R. Part[] . . . 391.”  49 C.F.R. § 391.45, in turn, requires drivers of commercial motor vehicles to be “medically examined and certified . . .as physically qualified to operate a commercial motor vehicle.”
  Such certifications are valid for a maximum of two years.
  

33. Here, it is undisputed that Mr. Acquaye did not have a valid medical certification at the time of the inspection on August 23, 2018.  The evidence establishes that before August 23, 2018, Mr. Acquaye’s last medical examination conducted pursuant to 49 C.F.R. § 391.45 was on July 22, 2015, and that the certification resulting from that examination expired on July 22, 2017.
   Mr. Acquaye conceded in his testimony that the medical certification expired before the inspection and that it was an oversight on his part that he did not recognize its expiration and the resulting need for a new medical examination and certification.  

34. In addition, it is also undisputed that Mr. Acquaye drove his limousine on March 5, 2018, April 4, 2018, May 1, 2018, June 1, 2018, July 2, 2018, and August 1, 2018.  Both the AVI records and Mr. Acquaye’s time records indicate that Mr. Acquaye drove commercially on those days.
  And, Mr. Acquaye testified at the hearing that he is the only person who drives Robert Limo Services’ limousine.  Accordingly, the ALJ concludes that Staff has satisfied its burden of proving Counts 1 through 6 alleged in the CPAN for violation of Rule 6102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45.  

E. Violation of Rule 6107

35. Count 7 alleges a violation of Rule 6107, which states that “[n]o person shall knowingly falsify, destroy, mutilate, change, or cause falsification, destruction, mutilation, or change to any record, subject to inspection by the Commission.”  Staff confirmed at the hearing that its allegation is that Robert Limo Services knowingly falsified its time records on August 5, 2018 when Mr. Acquaye indicated in his time records that he did not work on that date.  In contrast, the AVI records indicate that Mr. Acquaye did, in fact, drive the Robert Limo Services limousine commercially on that day. 

36. However, Staff has not provided sufficient evidence to support the conclusion that Mr. Acquaye knowingly falsified his time records when he indicated on those time records that he did not work on August 5, 2018.  Instead, the evidentiary record equally supports the conclusion that Mr. Acquaye made a mistake when he failed to indicate on his time records that he worked commercially on that date.  Accordingly, based on the evidentiary record in this proceeding, the ALJ concludes that Staff has not satisfied its burden of proving Count 7 in the CPAN.   

F. Penalty   
37. Having concluded that Respondent Robert Limo Services violated Rule 6102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45, it is necessary to determine the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed.  Rule 1302(b) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure provides:

(b)
The Commission may impose a civil penalty, when provided by law.  The Commission will consider any evidence concerning some or all of the following factors:

(I)
the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

(II)
the degree of the respondent’s culpability;

(III)
the respondent’s history of prior offenses;

(IV)
the respondent’s ability to pay;

(V)
any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

(VI)
the effect on the respondent’s ability to continue in business;

(VII).
the size of the business of the respondent; and

(VIII).
such other factors as equity and fairness may require.

38. Section 40-10.1-112(1), C.R.S., provides in relevant part that:

Except as specified in subsection (3) of this section [relating to summary suspensions of certificates and permits], the commission, at any time, by order duly entered, after hearing upon notice to the motor carrier and upon proof of violation, may issue an order to cease and desist . . . for the following reasons:  

. . . . 

(c) a violation or refusal to observe any of the proper orders or rules of the commission; 

39. Finally, Rule 6008(c) of the Commission’s Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Carrier, states in relevant part that:
(c)
After a hearing upon at least ten days’ notice to the motor carrier affected, and upon proof of violation, the Commission may issue an order to cease and desist, suspend, revoke, alter, or amend any certificate or permit for the following reasons: 

(I)
a violation of, or failure to comply with, any statute, order, or rule concerning a motor carrier;

40. Here, Staff cites as aggravating factors: (a) the 2014 SCR issued to Robert 
Limo Services for violations of the Commission’s Rules and Code of Federal Regulations; 
(b) Mr. Acquaye’s extensive commercial driving for over a year after his medical certification had expired; and (c) Mr. Acquaye’s delay in providing the records requested by Investigator Brodzinski.  The ALJ finds and concludes that all three circumstances cited by Staff are aggravating.  
41. The fact that Mr. Acquaye had a medical examination that resulted in his medical certification and had his vehicle inspected on the same day as the inspection by Investigator Brodzinski is a mitigating factor.  These facts establish good faith by Robert Limo Services in quickly coming into compliance with the Rules cited by Investigator Brodzinski and to prevent future similar violations.  
42. Nevertheless, even with this mitigating factor, the gravity of Robert Limo Services’ violations of Commission Rule 6102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45 is significant.  These safety rules protect the public and Robert Limo Services has disregarded them.  The ALJ concludes that the nature, aggravating circumstances, and gravity of the violation by Robert Limo Services warrant assessment of the maximum civil penalty of $1,265.00, including the 15 percent surcharge, for each violation of Commission Rule 6102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45, for a total of $7,590.  In so ruling, it is important to note that Staff could have charged Robert Limo Services with many more violations of Commission Rule 6102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45, but exercised its prosecutorial discretion in limiting the CPAN to the six counts alleged therein.  As a result, this civil penalty assessment could have been significantly higher.   

43. Finally, Robert Limo Services has displayed disregard for this Commission’s Rules.  Based on substantial evidence in the record proving the violation by Robert Limo Services and the aggravating factors found in this Decision, therefore, Robert Limo Services will be ordered to cease and desist from driving commercially without the proper medical certification in violation of Commission Rule 6102(a)(1) and 49 C.F.R. § 391.45.  

44. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.  
IV. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:  

1. Robert Limo Services LLC (Robert Limo Services) is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $1,100.00 for its violations in Counts 1 through 6 stated in Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 122311, with an additional 15 percent surcharge, for a total amount of $7,590.00.  

2. Not later than 30 days following the date of the final Commission decision issued in this Proceeding, Robert Limo Services shall pay to the Commission the civil penalty and the surcharge assessed in Ordering Paragraph No. 1.
3. Robert Limo Services is hereby ordered to cease and desist, as of the effective date of this Decision, from violating Commission Rule 6102(a)(1), 4 Code of Colorado Regulations 723-6, and 49 Code of Federal Regulations § 391.45.  
4. Proceeding No. 18G-0698EC is closed.  

5. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

6. As provided by §40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  


a)
If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the Recommended Decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of §40-6-114, C.R.S.


b)
If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in §40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

7. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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